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NO UNDERTAKINGS REQUESTED OR GIVEN IN THIS PROCEEDING
Thursday, November 10, 2005
     -‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:58 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting today pursuant to a procedural order issued on November 2nd.  This relates to an application filed by Toronto Hydro-Electric System on August 2nd requesting this Board, pursuant to section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, to approve just and reasonable rates for the distribution of electricity to be implemented on May 1st.


The Board, in that procedural order, indicated that this matter would proceed by way of oral hearing.  At that time, certain dates were set out for the filing of evidence and interrogatories.


We also stated that an Issues Day would be held on Thursday, November 10th, which is why we're here.


Can we have the appearances, please?


APPEARANCES:

MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Mark Rodger and I am here as counsel to Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited.  With me is my colleague, Jamie Sidlofsky and Mr. Rick Zebrowski from Toronto Hydro‑Electric System Limited.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rodgers.


MR. POCH:  Good morning Mr. Chairman.  I am David Poch on behalf of Green Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Members of the Panel.  My name is Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd for the School Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SCHAFLER:  Good morning.  I am Michael Schafler on behalf of Hydro Ottawa.  


MR. ROWAN:  Good morning.  I am Malcolm Rowan representing Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Rowan.  Is there anyone else?


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar for Board Staff, Mr. Chair.  With me are Mr. Lee Harmer and Mr. Neil Mather of Board Staff.


MR. ADAMS:  Good morning.  Tom Adams for Energy Probe.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Rodger, how do you want to proceed?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Well, Mr. Chairman, we have circulated a document, which you have a copy of, entitled "Issues Day November 10th, 2005".  And you will see that this document references several matters.  I will list those first, and then come back to how we wish to proceed, with the Board's indulgence.


MR. KAISER:  Let me just make sure we all have the same document.  Do you have that, Mr. Millar?  Should we mark this, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think that would be appropriate, Mr. Chair.  That will be Exhibit -- call it K1.1.


EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "ISSUES DAY NOVEMBER 10, 2005"

MR. KAISER:  Where did we get the K from?  Is that Kaiser?  Go ahead.


MR. RODGER:  So on this six-page document, sir, the categories are, firstly, a new matter, which I will return to in a moment; secondly, or (b), the proposed issues list for Toronto Hydro's 2006 ADR hearing; thirdly, or (c), issues that are currently on the Board's draft generic hearings issues list; and then, finally (d), a series of four contested issues.


We would like to proceed, sir, by dealing with the new matter first, and that is the request to amend Procedural Order No. 1 to establish an alternative dispute resolution to commence Monday, November 28th, 2005 at 9:30.  The reason we wanted to start with this issue is that we feel that it provides a bit of a context for the rest of the day, in terms of our discussions with intervenors that gave rise to the issues or topics list, and also to provide some context for some of the other matters, the generic hearing issues list and also the contested issues.


Pursuant to Procedural Order No. 1, Toronto Hydro did have an issues conference with intervenors on November 8th.  Toronto Hydro found that session to be very helpful regarding the general range of topics that intervenors wished to pursue in this application.  The proposed topics list was one of the outcomes of that session, and the request for ADR also arises from that session earlier in the week.


Now, to provide the Board with an overview of that session, and some context for this particular request for an amendment to the procedural orders, some of the intervenors indicated that they could not provide more detail on specific issues that they wanted to pursue until after Toronto Hydro filed its responses to their interrogatories, and, thus, you will see that the list is really more of the nature of a list of topics than issues, per se.  


The current schedule is that Toronto Hydro will file our responses by November 23rd to parties.  However, there were also areas that were identified in the session earlier this week where intervenors indicated that they likely would not be pursuing and we were able to exclude certain topics from the proposed topics list at that time, and, thus, the request for ADR.


In short, sir, what Toronto Hydro took away from that session earlier in the week is that ADR may be a very effective vehicle in this particular case to resolve intervenor issues that may be associated with the application, yet still permit the OEB to discharge its duty to assess the rate application before you in the public interest.


I would characterize ADR as being useful in this hearing with a couple of specific examples that emerged from the discussions with intervenors earlier in the week, and that is around the broad theme of the applicants' filing requirements for a future test year application.


Now, in some areas ‑ and we expressed this to intervenors earlier in the week ‑ Toronto Hydro has relied upon the handbook for certain matters; for example, the return on equity.  Our view is that there was no need to tender any evidence on this issue, because the OEB has already made a decision on this matter in the handbook.  And intervenors appeared to agree that it was reasonable for Toronto Hydro to rely on the handbook for an issue like that.


However, for other issues, some intervenors were saying that by Toronto Hydro selecting a future test year, there was different filing requirements from what the handbook would prescribe.


So we had that kind of back and forth, in terms of what was the standard on a future test year.  And intervenors cited, for example, that they would have expected to see things like cash flow studies or lead lag studies, executive compensation studies, studies on short‑term debt rates, et cetera.


So our submission is that an ADR process would be helpful in allowing parties to further explore such matters in a forum that, in our view, has a better chance of achieving consensus than proceeding directly to a hearing.  


Now, the timing for this proposed ADR, as I mentioned, Toronto Hydro's interrogatory responses are due on November 23rd.  So our view is that intervenors should have the responses by that date and prior to the ADR starting.  So our proposal is that rather than to have the oral hearing commence on November 28th, pursuant to the existing procedural order, that we start the ADR process on this date.


And if the ADR process does not produce a proposed settlement, then we still have reserved the week of January 16th for this proceeding.  It is slated at this time for intervenor evidence, but our view is that we could use it to start Toronto Hydro's case in‑chief, if need be.


Now, the question for the Board, we submit, is whether ADR is appropriate for this type of proceeding.  And the central issue within that question is whether the OEB itself can discharge its protection of the public interest mandate through an ADR process, assuming that a settlement could be achieved in that process.  


We believe that the public interest mandate of the Board can be protected and achieved through that process for the following reasons.  Firstly, we have a diverse group of ratepayers involved in this proceeding, so the issues are expected to be canvassed from various perspectives and interests, and we saw that from earlier in the week.  


Secondly, it doesn't change the IR process.  Intervenors will still have their responses before the ADR commences.  So at the time of the ADR, they will have a very good understanding of the issues that they still want to pursue.


Thirdly, we know that ADR is not something new to the Board, and that electricity rate-related proceedings can be successfully concluded in the public interest, and the most recent example of this was the Great Lakes Power transmission application that was subject to ADR and which produced a settlement agreement last month.


Finally, and most importantly, there is nothing in any proposed settlement agreement which binds this Board or otherwise restricts the Board's view, review, which still could take place during the week of the 16th.  And that is, even if the parties and Toronto Hydro were able to come to an agreement, a settlement on the issues through ADR, we would still be prepared, be prepared and pleased to come before this Board on the week of the 16th to address any other issues or specific issues that this Board may wish to address and still have Toronto Hydro deal with.
     So we see it as a way to hopefully achieve consensus, but it still gives you all of your powers for an oral hearing on whatever issues you deem are appropriate after having seen the settlement agreement.
     So our view, sir, is that given that Toronto Hydro's regulatory asset claim is not part of this process, already has been decided last year, and given that the hearing is restricted to a rate application, which could even include less issues depending on what the Board decides on your generic issues list and what you decide on the contested issues, that this may be a particularly effective process to achieve the interests of all.
     So our view, sir, is that we seek the procedural order be amended in order to initiate ADR commencing Monday November 28th.  Those are our submissions on that point, sir.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  I have just one point of clarification before we hear from other counsel.  I thought I heard you talking about two possible aspects of ADR.  One was an agreement on the filing requirements and the second was an agreement on the substantive issues; is that right?
     MR. RODGER:  I used the filing requirements as a specific example, sir, of the discussion that happened earlier in the week.
     I would see ADR as a comprehensive settlement.  That would be our objective.  The filing requirements was kind of one aspect of one issue that we discussed earlier in the week.
     MR. KAISER:  But let put the question differently.  If for some reason we decided that we didn't want to put the entire case to ADR, is there still merit in having ADR settlement discussions with respect to the filing requirements?
     MR. RODGER:  I think it would, because whatever issues that we can resolve with intervenors and remove from an oral hearing; I just think that will help all sides.
     The interrogatories only came in last night, but at least from my initial review, there seems to be a handful of areas where parties are really interested in.  So if we can come up with some accommodation that might satisfy their needs and the utility's needs, I think that is in everyone's interest.  As I say, regardless of the settlement agreement that may come forward, the Board could still go beyond that and ask to scrutinize any aspects of the application they want.  That would be our view.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Schafler, does Ottawa have any position on this.
     MR. SCHAFLER:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  The issues in the Ottawa rate case are likely to be similar as the ones in this case for the reasons expressed by my friend, Mr. Rodger, Ottawa would support an ADR initiative.

MR. KAISER:  So you would be proposing the same procedure in your case?
     MR. SCHAFLER:  Yes.  The timing requirements are slightly different, of course, but in principle the idea is the same.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, two points.   First of all, my interest in this case is largely confined to the CDM matters.   We have tended to find, certainly in the gas situations that we've -- ADR has been very successful approach in the main because there are so many details and it is cumbersome in a hearing.  So it is nice to, at least, if not successfully settle, at least scope alternatives down through the ADR process.
     You will hear me later this morning make a submission that what we're looking to do on CDM, should the Board put it on the issues list, is deal with things that are not generic in nature, that are specific to Toronto Hydro.  So I think it's amenable to settlement.
     I would say, though, the point I wanted to make is that this being the first significant review the Board is undertaking of Toronto Hydro in perhaps -- perhaps ever, I would certainly understand the Board being, wanting to be cautious with respect to using a settlement approach, ADR approach as opposed to a full-blown hearing but I think that could be answered in two ways.  First, the parties would appreciate that in this case they would have to be particularly careful to provide for the board the evidentiary basis for any proposed settlement so that the Board is in a position to exercise its public interest mandate.  

Secondly, the point that Mr. Rodger made which is where the Board is not comfortable that the record supports a particular settlement, the Board should of course feel free to insist upon an airing in the oral evidence.  Other than that caveat, we certainly support the suggestion.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Klippenstein, do you have a position?
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  
     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Pollution Probe supports Toronto Hydro's ADR proposal.  Pollution Probe thinks it is very likely to be efficient and effective in this situation.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, we have submissions from two points of view, first from principle, then from practicality.
     As a matter of principle, as you know, the School Energy Coalition has publicly argued in favour of ADR very strongly on more than one occasion in letters to the Board, and submission on other matters.  We think ADR is a critical part of the regulatory process.
     I should tell you that Toronto Hydro's a perfect example of why this is important to Schools.  One of the four school boards in Toronto is among Toronto Hydro's top five customers.  It is -- they don't feel it's in their interests and I don't think Toronto Hydro feels its in their interests to be forced into an adversarial situation as opposed to what we think is the better way of doing it, which is major customer, major supplier, sitting down working together to figure out how things should be done.
     And if that is done in the context of all of the ratepayers and all of the other interest groups together, that is absolutely the best way to find a constructive result.  And therefore we strongly support it.
     We think that is especially true in this case, because it is the first time the Toronto Hydro has been publicly regulated - the first time, at least, in my memory.  It is important, we think, for the Board to promote a cooperative approach to regulation, as opposed to unnecessarily adversarial approach to regulation.  That's the argument from principle.

The argument from practicality is, there will not, in fact, be an issues list this long in -- once we sit down and look at all of the IRs and talk to each other.  There are a lot of issues that this Board does not need to look at, or does not need to look at -- put it this way, does not need to have a debate about, because we all agree on the right answer, and the Board will see that that is, in fact, the right answer when we present an ADR resolution.
     Therefore we think it is a waste of the Board's time, and it presents the wrong message on the relationship between this LDC and its ratepayers.  Therefore, we strongly support the ADR proposal that the company has made.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Adams.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:

MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We support the ADR and the submissions of the other counsel.
     We’ll bring one other thought to your attention in support of an ADR, and that is that in our review of the pre-filed evidence of Toronto Hydro, with the applicant having taken for a test year approach, we were concerned about some posity of the filings and have attempted, and I think from what I understand of the approach taken with other -- by other intervenors, attempted through interrogatories to expand our understanding of the utility’s application.
     One of the useful purposes that ADR may present, in light of the compressed schedule that, for understandable reasons, the Board has imposed upon this schedule -- I'm not complaining about that compressed schedule -- but it leaves a relatively short interval of time if there was -- if intervenors identified deficiencies in interrogatory responses from the applicant that was going to go through a second paper process.  Our experience is that often, in ADR, you can, through direct negotiation, establish the nut of an evidentiary question and, through exchange, go back and forth, get at what needs to be done to complete the record, and then the applicant has an opportunity to produce supplementary filings of some kind that they can bring forward and help to fill out the record.


So I think the intervenor community that's participating in this case has a good deal of experience, as does the applicant's counsel, and I have confidence that an ADR process could be beneficial in that respect, as well, in addition to the other submissions that you've heard.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams, let me ask you a couple of questions.  I'm going to ask other counsel to respond to this.  I wanted to hear from you first before I put some of these questions so we don't have to -‑ we can open up this discussion.


Let me tell you one of the concerns I have.  I think it has been expressed by counsel and I believe it was Mr. Shepherd.  This is the first time this utility has been regulated in any detail.  That's point number 1.


Point number 2, as I understand it, there is a general understanding that this sector is going to move to some kind of incentive rate regulation fairly quickly.  That's not defined with any great precision, but that is sort of the general expectation and belief, which of course suggests that you need to get some kind of basis that you can move forward on.  


The third thing I would like you to comment on ‑ and this is really my question ‑ it's all very well to say that the Board can review a settlement proposal and reject it, in theory, but if the Board did that too often, a lot of people would get upset and the process, in fact, might unravel.


So I think the practicalities would be that a Board panel would interfere with a settlement agreed upon by all parties in only the rarest of cases.  That leads me to my final point, and I don't know the answer to this, which is why I'm asking you guys, because you've been here a lot longer than I have. 


If we were going to have a meaningful review of a settlement proposal, we would have to have some kind of process, in my view, that there would be enough evidentiary basis for it, number 1, and that we could put questions to counsel, so that we could do some legitimate and thorough review of the settlement proposal.  Now, the few that I have been involved are, “Here it is.  See you after coffee,” kind of thing.


So my question is this, and I put this to all of you and I would like any of you who wish to respond to respond.  In your view, having regard to the public interest, which there is an interest here, and while this is a diverse intervenor community, it probably doesn't represent everyone -- you have your own clients and you take care of your clients.  The Board's responsibility, as you all recognize, is the broader public interest.  


Is there something in your judgment ‑ and you have had a lot more experience in these settlement proposals than the members of this Panel have ‑ that we could do to create a more robust, if I can use that term, review of the settlement proposal?


I will start back with you, Mr. Rodger, if you could turn your mind to that.  You've been through many of these proposals, as your colleagues have.  Having regard to that concern, can we improve upon the settlement process in a way that would alleviate those concerns not only by the Board, but other people watching this process?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  One approach that we would consider, Mr. Chairman, to address that point of a meaningful review, beyond the settlement being filed, is we could, for example ‑‑ our expectation for an oral hearing is that we would have basically three panels of witnesses from Toronto Hydro; the policy panel with senior executives, more of an operations panel, capital expenditures, et cetera; and a financial panel.


If we did conclude a settlement agreement with the intervenors, we could still take the Board through those three panels of evidence, just like we would for a normal hearing, and then the Board could ask any questions it wants of each witness.


MR. KAISER:  That's very helpful.  Any ideas, Mr. Poch?


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:

MR. POCH:  I was going to suggest something similar.  In effect, to the extent there is any settlement, that settlement would be adopted by the applicant in effect as its evidence, and, needless to say, there wouldn't be any terribly harsh cross‑examination, if any, and ‑‑ but that there could be a hearing and the Board could ask questions.  But I would suggest that the more flexible approach that you are suggesting, where the Board feel free to ask counsel for elaborations and so on, would be appropriate, as well.


I would think, if the Board is inclined to go that route, by determining that now that would also send a message to the parties to the settlement conference that this is not a case where the Board wants to receive, you know, a number for O&M and with the supporting rationale that this was the end of the horse-trading deal we made, that the Board would, what I'm hearing -- and I think it would be clear to the parties, would be that the Board -- in this situation, we're not talking about just fine tuning a change from last year's Board-reviewed and approved O&M level.  The Board needs to know that it's more in the ballpark to begin with and needs some evidentiary basis for that.


I think that is understood by the parties and would have to be provided for the Board to be able to approve any settlement.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Klippenstein?


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chairman, it occurs to me that the Board, in asking whether the public interest is adequately served in the process, may distinguish between different types of subject matter, because there may be some subject matters ‑ I'm thinking of conservation and demand management ‑ where there is more intense scrutiny by participants in the process, and in conservation and demand management there tend to be a variety of groups, often with opposing or variation ‑‑ varying perspectives who have experience in the issues over many years, and so that there is the conflict and discussion of ideas from an experienced knowledge base.  And the Board might assess that an ADR settlement is more tested in that subject area, whereas in another subject area, where there is less participation, the Board might reasonably say that should require a little more scrutiny.


So that is a possible approach.


MR. KAISER:  I appreciate that.  Mr. Schafler?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SCHAFLER:

MR. SCHAFLER:  I could perhaps add a slightly different perspective.  I primarily do litigation and some securities work.  The matter of approving a settlement in a class action, for example, is one that comes up quite frequently, and although the parties may settle under the Class Proceedings Act, the court, similar to the Board here, has the overriding supervisory function to approve a settlement, and the record that is required for that is fairly extensive.  And I think what I'm hearing my friends express is something quite similar to that.


The same goes for Ontario Securities Commission settlement briefs, where it is not just a matter of handing up the settlement and saying, Have a look at it while we go for a cup of coffee.  I think I would agree with my friends that if the right level of evidence were provided to the Board, it could make an informed decision in the public interest.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Rowan?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ROWAN:


MR. ROWAN:  First of all, Mr. Chairman, we support Toronto Hydro's submission on the need for an ADR.  The views that have already been expressed, in terms of providing additional information to the Board to buttress an ADR settlement agreement, are points that we would also agree with and feel that that sort of additional evidentiary information could be provided to the Board.  That would give you the comfort that the settlement agreement that has been reached has some foundation.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Adams?


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ADAMS:  


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Three points and the first is just an obvious one.  By establishing an ADR procedure, you have not ‑‑ there's no presumption of a settlement arising.  It may or may not arise.  If the parties are not comfortable with the conclusion of their discussions, then it simply comes before the Board.


A second point is with regard to practicalities.  I think there is a broad appreciation that this evidentiary record and the decision ultimately arising from this, in this case, is likely to and from Energy Probe's perspective hopefully will perform, act as some kind of a base moving forward toward some form of incentive regulation.  We're very supportive of movement in this direction.
     In the ideal case, the base year for such a program would be a thoroughly scrutinized and, within reasonable bounds, I think our pursued from the point of view of leaving no rocks unturned, something similar to what is currently underway with respect to another application that's currently before the Board, the Enbridge application.
     But the practical concern here is - and I think it is reflected – the practical concern here is timing.  And the Board has imposed some pressure on this process by its adoption of a particular schedule.  That schedule is reflective of the Board's priorities and that creates some burden on those that have an interest in the outcome of this case, because we're being asked to push this through on the hurry-up.
     But this is, by no means, the only case that the parties, the intervenors that are active in this particular application are facing.  Many of the intervenors that are before you are represented by relatively small teams, and those teams are under a good deal of pressure with respect to a number of items that are on the regulatory agenda.
     So the ideal case of a thorough point-by-point-no-rocks-unturned approach to base year is something that, as attractive as that is, may be difficult to achieve in this case.
     My final point I want to raise with you is, if we're going into an ADR, with the express expectation from the Board that an issue-by-issue review of the settlement will be undertaken, I would encourage the Board to issue such a direction to the parties.  But I believe that the parties are capable of providing a document that would be conducive to the Board's review under those instructions.
     Those are my submissions, thank you.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Mr. Millar do you have any views on this.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:  
     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you Mr. Chair.  I had some prepared remarks regarding the appropriateness of an ADR at all in this proceeding.
     You, in fact, yourself, echoed -- not echoed because I hadn't said them yet, but you brought up many of the points I intended to raise.  That is Toronto Hydro has not been before the Board in this type of proceeding before.  So this evidence has never really been tested by the Board.
     We have various representatives from constituents of the public interest here, but I think the public interest, as a whole as you rightly pointed out is represented by the Board and Board Staff specifically.  So it was going to be our recommendation that we not accept at least a complete settlement from any ADR in this proceeding.  But I would like to turn my remarks, if I could, to Mr. Rodger's suggestion, and I haven't had an opportunity to discuss this with other members of Board Staff.  But it sounds to me like, the Board can control its ADR process and they can control how the settlement is presented to them.  I think Mr. Rodger's suggestion is at least worth thinking about, in that it would allow for -- if a settlement were to be reached, we would still have evidence called.  Mr. Poch pointed out there could be cross-examination by the parties.  And he rightly suggested it wouldn't be terribly vigorous cross-examination because they would be 

cross-examining their own agreement.  However Board Staff is not a party to any ADR agreement.  Board Staff would certainly be free to cross-examine and test the evidence in any way it chose.
     So I think I'm not prepared to say the Board Staff heartily endorse this proposal but it is certainly something the panel I think can fairly consider and it might address the concerns we have about having an open process and giving the Board the opportunity to thoroughly test all of the evidence on Toronto Hydro's first application of this nature.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, I skipped over you.  I apologize.
     FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:  
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Most of the points have been made, Mr. Chairman.  There's not much left for me to say.
     The one thing I want to point out is that the standard practice now -- while you're right, Mr. Chairman, the Board generally is not going to refuse a settlement unless it is pretty obviously a dumb one.  But I think the standard practice, in fact, is that when we settle issues, we present a fairly detailed document which says what we settled, why we settled it, and the back-up evidence supporting that settlement.  And I think that some counsel, at least not all counsel, but some counsel presenting a settlement on behalf of an applicant, make an effort to take the Board through the rationale in even more detail orally.  I think that is something that should be encouraged.
     The necessity to actually lead witness panels to support the settlement, I think is something the Board can determine after it hears what the settlement is.  The applicant should be ready to lead those witnesses, but if the Board looks at the settlement and says, Okay we've read the evidence.  This makes sense.  We understand the rationale.  Then the Board shouldn't be wasting its time hearing oral evidence on it.  Those are our submissions.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Well I think we need to determine this issue before proceeding to the others.  We will take half an hour and come back and deal with this matter.
     --- Recess taken at 10:35 a.m.

‑‑‑ On resuming at 10:55 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


DECISION:

MR. KAISER:  The Board, this morning in this hearing, heard a motion brought by Toronto Hydro requesting that the procedural order be amended to provide for an alternative dispute resolution process, which would potentially deal with all of the issues on the issues list.  The motion was supported by all of the intervenors present.


As indicated in the questioning this morning, the Board at the outset has concerns in this case about such a process.  This case is unique in the following respects:  This is the first time this applicant has come before the Board for a full review in a rate case.  There is also the potential that the regulatory procedures in this sector may move in the near future to incentive regulation, and that demands an accurate basis to proceed forward.


Of course, there is always the concern in the Board's mind that the public interest be represented in these proceedings, and to the extent there is less public review and matters are settled by private negotiation, that interest can be potentially harmed.


On the other hand, it is pointed out, quite correctly, that there is a diverse representation of public interest groups here.  It's also pointed out, quite correctly, that it is in everyone’s interest that this regulatory process be expedited, and ADR has been a successful mechanism in this Board's procedures to achieve that in the past.


Having said that, the Board is prepared to accept the proposal, subject to certain conditions.  The first is that, with respect to each and every issue that is settled by the parties, there be a detailed settlement memorandum prepared by the applicant and signed off by all settling parties to that issue, and that memorandum would indicate not only the matters settled, but a detailed evidentiary basis for that settlement, and, thirdly, the reasons for the settlement.


Secondly, that memorandum would be delivered at least seven days prior to the hearing of the settlement proposal, and at that hearing the applicant would be expected to have witnesses available to speak to each and every one of the settled issues.


With respect to such examination, that would be conducted only by Board counsel and members of the Panel.  If this is a settled issue, it is not anticipated any cross‑examination by other parties should be necessary.


Now, before we conclude this matter - and I know this may be somewhat unique - I would like to hear from each and every one of you as to whether that is acceptable or whether I have missed something.  Mr. Schafler.


MR. SCHAFLER:  I think it reflects what we discussed and it appears acceptable to Ottawa Hydro.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Schafler.  Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  Yes, sir, those conditions are acceptable to Toronto Hydro.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch.  


MR. POCH:  It is certainly acceptable to us.  I would just add, for the parties who are involved, it is quite possible there may be evidence filed by my client, in which case if there was a settlement, presumably, if necessary, my expert would be the panel with Toronto Hydro.


MR. KAISER:  I understand.  Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I have no comments, other than what sometimes occurs is that there will be a settlement by most parties, but not by every party, and that raises a question of where that party does not agree with that particular settled issue, that there be cross‑examination, but that can be dealt with later.


MR. KAISER:  It may also raise a question as to whether it is a settlement.  Mr. Adams.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I agree with Mr. Klippenstein.  If there is partial settlement, I'm assuming that the ordinary procedure would apply in that instance.


MR. KAISER:  Sorry, I couldn't hear you.


MR. ADAMS:  I'm assuming ‑‑


MS. LEA:   Pardon me.  Unfortunately the reporter is not hearing the participants either.  We're hearing you, but there doesn't seem to be anything coming through the microphones of the participants, so we may need to ‑‑ Mr. Harmer, do you think you can fix it?


[Technical difficulty]


MR. KAISER:  Still nothing?  All right.  Well, you'll have to speak up.  Were you able to hear, Madame Reporter?  We're going to go around the horn again.  You will have to speak a little more loudly.  The microphones are not working, so... Mr. Schafler.


MR. SCHAFLER:  Hydro Ottawa was in agreement with the proposal.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  Toronto Hydro agrees with the proposal.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch.


MR. POCH:  GEC agrees with the proposal and we would undertake to combine any witness we needed to offer with the proponents, if necessary.


MR. KAISER:  Madame Reporter, you will tell me if you're not hearing any of these people?  Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Pollution Probe agrees with the plan, but points out that in some cases an issue may be settled with one or two parties’ exception and that raises the issue of whether that party should be able to cross-examine, but that can be dealt with later by the Board, I would imagine.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Adams.


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Energy Probe supports the position of Pollution Probe, and it would be our expectation that the normal procedures would be followed in the event of a partial settlement.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Did you get that?  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  School Energy Coalition is in agreement with the parties.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rowan.  


MR. ROWAN:  CME agrees with the proposal.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, gentlemen.  I think there is only one issue that came out of that, and that is the procedure with respect to partial settlements.


I think, if I interpreted what you said, Mr. Adams, it is that a partial settlement is not a settlement and we will treat it as a contested issue.


All right.  What I'm going to suggest, gentlemen, if we can, we'll just take five minutes to see if we can solve the technical glitch, and then we will come back and deal with the remaining matters. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.

     --- On resuming at 11:06 a.m.
     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rodger, what's next?
     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

Now that the first matter has been concluded on our Exhibit K1.1, on page 2, item B, we have the proposed issues list or topics list for the proceeding.  One comment about page 5 before we get to the contested issue on page 5, item C the issues currently on the draft generic hearings issues list, it is our understanding that the OEB is to decide, by November 15th, what issues are to be on or considered generic issues and what we have agreed with the intervenors is that if these issues you see on Page 5 are not part of the generic hearing, then they will be issues at the Toronto Hydro rate application.
     So this matter will be dependant on the outcome the Board's decision by next Tuesday, I believe.
     That leads us to page 6, or the series of contested issues.  The proponents of these issues are Pollution Probe and the Green Energy Coalition.
     MR. KAISER:  Now, I don't know -- Mr. Millar, I don't know whether the parties are aware that the Board is contemplating a generic hearing with respect to certain DSM issues.  And a procedural order in that regard is due to go out either today or tomorrow.
     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I think what is on the public record is, in the Hydro One procedural order I think it was Procedural Order No. 2 -- maybe I could just read it on to the record for anyone who doesn't have the document in front of them, on page 3 of that procedural order the second full paragraph, the last two sentences of that paragraph read:   

“The Board does not normally announce other proceedings in a decision.  However, for clarity in this case, we advise that the Board will soon announce a more generic process on CDM issues.” 

So I believe it is on the public record the Board will be conducting some type of process for CDM issues.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  And I have seen the draft procedural order, because I happen to be the presiding member of that proceeding, which is currently scheduled, you will be delighted to know, for December 22nd.
     It deals with, as is currently structured, two issues.  One is what I'm going to refer to as the Pollution Probe motion, which has to do with the TRC issue.  And it also deals with -- I'm using the language loosely here -- but the proposition as to whether a utility would be required to increase its DSM spending over and above the level it proposed on the motion of a third party.
     This goes back to the question which was addressed tangentially in the Rate Handbook that said DSM spending would be voluntary and there would be no minimums imposed on a utility.  But it did not deal with, of course, the issue of whether that estopped any proposal brought by a third party.  So that issue will be dealt with as part of that proceeding.
     What it does not deal with, however, is this line-loss issue, which is on the contested issue list here.  So I only give you that background which is to say, as I'm hoping I had thought this procedural order might have gone out by now, that as it is currently contemplated, at least the first items 4, 5 and 6 will be dealt with as part of that generic hearing.  That would leave item 7 to be a contested issue in this case.  

MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I was earmarked to lead off on those items 4, 5 and 6.  I would still like to make some submissions in that regard, obviously in the context of your comments.
     MR. KAISER:  Right, that's fine.
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:  

MR. POCH:  Our intention, in putting these issues on 

-- first of all, I should just clarify that I'm not sure who the author of 4.2 and 4.3 is.  I don't object to their inclusion but they weren't put forward by us.  I think they're a -- they snuck in there.  I should also mention that the topic heading for item 5, conservation and demand management reporting requirements that the latter phrase “reporting requirements,” I think also was not proposed by us and could be a bit misleading.  We were not proposing an issue on what the reporting requirements should be.  It was more the – well, we will come to it.
     MR. KAISER:  Can I stop you there then?  Who is the author of the reporting requirements aspect of this?  

MR. POCH:  I am the author of - issue 5.1, but not of the heading which I was just concerned that the expression “reporting requirements” could confuse the, what we intended there.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  I understand.
     MR. POCH:  So I would just ask the Board strike those two words “reporting requirements.”  I'm not sure if anybody is the author of 4.2 and 4.3.
     MR. KAISER:  Well, are these contested issues or not, Mr. Rodger?
     MR. RODGER:  We thought they were, Mr. Chairman.  I think 4.2 and 4.3, I think those arise specifically from our discussions with Board Staff.  What we have tried to do when we issued this document yesterday was basically draw from a series of e-mails, from the span of issues into something we hoped captured everybody's concern.  If it's a fault on drafting, it is ours, but we tried to accommodate everybody in the broadest possible manner base on the discussion over the last couple of days.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I don’t even understand what it means.  What is the determination of the appropriate share of incremental CDM expenditures?  What is that driving at?  
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I just assumed what that is, is a cost-allocation question as between customer classes which is something the rate handbook speaks to.
     MR. KAISER:  Is that your understanding, Mr. Rodger?
     MR. RODGER:  That's correct, sir.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.
     MR. POCH:  I assume 4.3 is, I suppose the only interpretation that would make any sense is whether or not if there is incremental CDM, whether it be funded in the rate order or whether it be funded through some variance account.  Again, it's not our suggestion that it be so but...     

MR. KAISER:  Whose position is this, Mr. Rodger?  Is it a Board Staff issue or your issue?
     MR. RODGER:  I thought this was a Board Staff issue.     

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, can you speak to this, since you seem to be the --
     MR. MILLAR:  If I could have one moment, Mr. Chair.
     MR. KAISER:  Just try to define this with some precision.
     MR. MILLAR:  I think it is Board's Staff position, Mr. Chair, if we have 4.1 on, we would have to deal with 4.2 and 4.3.  I think that is why Board Staff wanted the issues on the issues list.  That is assuming we deal with CDM at all.
     MR. KAISER:  4.1 means, when you say revenue requirement for incremental CDM, you mean what?  What's the issue?
     MR. MILLAR:  Again, if you will excuse me.
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, perhaps I could speak to it since it, in essence, was a paraphrase of the issue that GEC had put forward.  And the essence of it is, the merits of additional budget in the 2006 rate case for CDM expenditures beyond those funded by the third-tranche mechanism.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  So it's CDM spending above third tranche?
     MR. POCH:  Yes.
     MR. KAISER:  Proposed in general principle or   whether proposed by people other than the utility or what?
     MR. POCH:  No.  Certainly in this case, it is being proposed by someone other than -- by parties other than the utility, although obviously if it's possible in a settlement process the utility will agree that this be amenable to this.  At the present, they're not anxious to have 245 discussions.  
     MR. KAISER:  So right now, the dispute or the contested issue, the utilities say, We don't want to spend more than X.  You say, No, you should spend more than X.  That’s the contested issue?
     MR. POCH:  Yes.
     MR. KAISER:  The level of spending on CDM by the utility.  That's the disputed issue?
     MR. POCH:  Yes, sir.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.
     MR. POCH:  With that --
     MR. KAISER:  Then 4.2 is how that expenditure should be allocated between classes?
     MR. POCH:  -- which I believe is not a live issue, Mr.
Chairman.  I don’t think anybody in this hearing is suggesting that if there is incremental spending there is any debate, that it be allocated in any different fashion than the others. 

MR. KAISER:  Can we take this off the list, Mr. Millar?  It doesn't seem there is a dispute on it.  We have enough real issues without straw man issues.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, It sounds like there probably won't be much dispute over this.  I guess there is nothing in the agreement that directly -- there is nothing that directly -- there is no agreement as to how this would be done, 4.2, for example.  It sounds to me like there wouldn't be anything dispute about it, I don't think.


MR. KAISER:  Isn't it a general principle that to the extent possible, it is allocated to customer class?  Everyone agrees with that general principle?


MR. MILLAR:  As far as I know, everyone agrees with it.


MR. KAISER:  So it is the level of spending on CDM by the utilities, in this case Toronto Hydro.  That's the issue?


MR. POCH:  Yes.  Similarly, with the 4.3, I don't think anybody is proposing that it be recovered, other than --


MR. KAISER:  In rates?


MR. POCH:  -- in rates in this process.


MR. KAISER:  That's what this case is about; right?


MR. MILLAR:  If everyone agrees to that, then that's fine.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. POCH:  That being the case, Mr. Chairman, I will confine my remarks to 4.1 and 5.1, and to some extent 6.1, and I understand Mr. Klippenstein would lead off on item 7.


I should clarify, to begin, that we do not seek to alter the Board's earlier decision with respect to third-tranche funding of CDM.


What we wish to do, in this case, is investigate the possible need or benefit of added efforts in 2006 in the particular circumstances of Toronto Hydro.  We also recognize that the Board, in making its third-tranche decisions, spawned an annual reporting process for that, and we're not seeking to change that either.


We would implicitly, in wanting to look at the merits of going beyond that level of effort, need to have ‑‑ make some appraisal of where we stand and what the details are of the plan already in place funded by third tranche.  That would, in essence, be the foundation upon which we would build, but it's not our intent to embark on any detailed examination of that; rather, we want to consider what makes sense beyond that.


MR. KAISER:  Let me stop you there.  I want to make sure we understand what the dispute is.


Are you saying that the dispute between you and the applicant is whether you can review the status of the existing programs?


MR. POCH:  No.  We are not seeking here a review of the status of the existing programs.  We would seek some -- in the interrogatory process we have -- I think one of my 17 questions asks for an update on where we stand with that and just a break-out of what those programs are, because that will obviously inform what makes sense to layer on top, but we're not asking to embark on a detailed examination of those.  


The only exception to that is the item 6, where we're concerned that in the current slate of programs, there may be at least one case where there is some mischief occurring because of reliance on the TRC guidelines, and I will come to that.  I will get back to that in a moment.  


Let me put that aside for the moment.


MR. KAISER:  I'm still not sure what 5 amounts to, then.


MR. POCH:  Five is ‑‑ fair comment, Mr. Chairman.  Five would be simply the specifics that would accompany any determination under 4.  So, if you wish, it could be rolled together, that ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  What is it you're asking for that Mr. Rodger doesn't want to ‑‑


MR. POCH:  We are asking for -- potentially, for incremental funding in 2006 rates for CDM beyond the programs funded in the third tranche.  


MR. KAISER:  That's under 4.  


MR. POCH:  That's under 4.


MR. KAISER:  That's the issue under 4.


MR. POCH:  And we would want -- in any order in that regard, we would be seeking some specifics as part of ‑‑ either as a settlement or an order with respect to that budget and any ‑‑ what programs it would be aimed at, how it would be staffed, and what targets would be ‑‑ would accompany that additional budget.


MR. KAISER:  So all 4 is is the details with respect to any spending?


MR. POCH:  Correct.  This is all one issue, in essence.


MR. KAISER:  It's all one issue, isn't it?


MR. POCH:  Yes, I think that is fair.  Let me jump right to what I anticipate my friend's concern is, and that is the Board has already decided in the Hydro One distribution case, EB‑2005‑0378 ‑‑ well, the panel in that case expressed its view that CDM issues were -- as proposed there, were very important and had broad implications for many LDCs, and, therefore, the panel indicated its preference for these matters to be dealt with in some more generic process.  And the Chair has, today, indicated how that process is going to proceed.


We would respectfully submit that this Panel should distinguish between what can effectively be dealt with in a generic process and what needs to be dealt with in a specific process for this utility.  And what we submit needs to be dealt with specifically here is what makes sense for the Toronto Hydro in the circumstances it faces for 2006.  


We're concerned that the generic process will be too late in the day to enable us to build and obtain ‑‑ rather, capitalize on opportunities in Toronto in 2006, and we believe there is some urgency to doing so.


We stress that what we wish to pursue here are not generic determinations in that regard, but, rather, specific program and budget suggestions for Toronto Hydro, on top of what they already have, for the immediate future.


Let me say in that regard there is some real urgency here.  And I see my friend, Mr. Klippenstein, has filed some references from the IESO, so I won't go into detail.  Suffice to say that it has -- in the case of Toronto, there is an identified constraint, transmission constraint, which suggests there is particular urgency, although I would say that, in our submission, there is urgency pretty well throughout the province, given the general supply situation that we face.


I would also say that we're not suggesting Toronto Hydro is doing, necessarily, a bad job or a great job at the moment.  We really don't know.  It may well be among the best in the LDC community on CDM.  The question is not whether they might meet or exceed some generic minimum standard that a generic process might elaborate upon, but, rather, in 2006, given the programs under way, in their specific case, can they productively manage more CDM that could cost effectively address the specific problems faced in Toronto and could cost effectively lower customer bills? 


MR. KAISER:  Remind me of the evidence here.  Are you proposing spending for '06 above third-tranche commitment?


MR. RODGER:  No, we're not, sir.


MR. POCH:  In that regard, our intention is we've asked interrogatories that would give us a factual basis to file a brief piece of evidence making suggestions as to what, if any, additional spending would be warranted and manageable, and specifically where it should be directed.


The ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  I want to ask you a question here before I forget it.


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  I think we understand the basis of the dispute or the contested issue, which is whether there should be spending over and above the level that the utility has decided on its own to do.  I said that the Board, in its wisdom, has decided to hold a generic issue on this question, given that that question might arise in all of these cases.  


But I want to ask you a question and I want you to think about it.  Do I understand from your submissions that that question cannot be answered on a generic basis, that you have to look at each and every utility to make a meaningful decision?  Is that what you're saying?


MR. POCH:  That's where I'm heading next, Mr. Chairman.  I would submit that there may ‑‑ frankly I don't see it, but there may be a generic question of law, really, and of regulatory practice as to whether it is wise for the Board to entertain third-party requests that utilities be called upon to spend more than they have volunteered to do.  That one could approach in some generic fashion.
     But the appropriateness in any given case is just that, it's in any given case it would have to be looked at in some fashion in light of the capabilities of that utility, the opportunities that exist in its franchise, its current program, which differs from utility to utility because they were set by reference to the third-tranche much funds, which, with respect to conservation demand management were arbitrary.  The third-tranche level of funding was, it was a political expedient way for the government to get the ball rolling.  It was an expression of government policy that they wanted the LDCs to play a central role in the delivery of CDM.  It was an expedient way to get moving.  But no one has suggested it was, in any sense, an optimal level.  Certainly it was not a uniform level, although there is some proportionality in some cases.
     So I would say that there could -- we could carve out a generic aspect.  The Board has carved out a generic aspect to that question, but it still leaves unanswered -- assuming the Board was to agree in that generic process that, yes, that is a possibility, there is nothing in the act that precludes it and the Board's public interest mandate, in our submission, will be in fact the public --Board's public interest mandate, requires that the Board be prepared to entertain those questions.  We still have to look at individual utilities.       

We're concerned that given that time is of the essence here, that we not miss the opportunity for at least a couple of the major utilities, the one we've -- my client has intervened in this case, the Ottawa case, and the PowerStream group which may be either dealt with in the rate case there or through this other York Region process, that these are lead utilities covering a large proportion of the province's load, and that have some urgency.
     MR. KAISER:  Did I understand that connection that at least with respect to this case, you are proposing to file evidence?
     MR. POCH:  We would propose to file evidence in this case, yes.
     MR. KAISER:  On that issue?
     MR. POCH:  On the specific issue of what opportunities, what further opportunities should be captured in 2006 for Toronto Hydro.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.
     MR. POCH:  To be frank, Mr. Chairman, we're actually looking at the possibility of evidence that would be -- part of which might -- I think -- part of which might pertain equally well to Ottawa hydro but would go further and delve into the specifics in each case, just as a matter of expedience.
     MR. KAISER:  Is the Ottawa position the same, in that you're not going to spend any money above the third-tranche level?
     MR. SCHAFLER:  Yes, that's the position in its application, Mr. Chair.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Schafler.
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I was going to make some submissions – well, I will make brief submissions that may tread into the area that the Board has reserved for December 22nd, so please stop me if you feel that this is not helpful.  

The Board, in the Hydro One case, made a distinction between line-loss reduction and CDM more generally.  And I quote:

“The issue regarding line losses is slightly different.  Although reducing line losses is considered a CDM program, it is also a responsibility of each electricity distributor to make the most efficient use of its distribution assets."     

Our submission is that no such distinction should be made.  We believe that an LDC's obligation to make efficient use of its assets requires it to utilize all applicable CDM techniques within the constraints of manageability and the limits of acceptable rate impact, which matters are generally specific to the particular utility.  And our submission is the failure to do so is, indeed, mismanagement and no more excusable in the case of CDM than it would be in the case of line construction.     

Therefore, it is our submission that the Board should be willing and anxious, in fact, to consider the appropriateness of the utility's efforts in that regard across the range of CDM activities.  It's not some add on or luxury item.  It is integral to good utility practice and more to the point, for the Board, we believe it is integral to the objectives of the Act and that -- I won't -– again, I say Mr. Klippenstein is going to elaborate on the Act.  Suffice to say, the specific objectives in the Act, in our view, certainly capture CDM.  Indeed, a number of the objectives do.
     Toronto Hydro has elected not to file for the rates on the basis of the Handbook historical year approach.  We would suggest that just as other elements of 2006 rates aren't a one-size-fits-all process, although we understand it is certainly hoped it is a one size fits many, CDM aspects are no different and the Board should be prepared to consider deviations from the default.
     In short, just as the Handbook is not determinative in all cases, the guidelines and the awards and decisions to date are not determinative on the CDM front, similarly.
     Toronto Hydro's choice not to request additional funding in 2006 for CDM cannot be taken as the end of the 

-- to the issue in our respectful submission.  If it was experiencing problems with inadequate -- billing accuracy, the Board would not sit back and say, Well, we'll live with that because the utility hasn't asked for money to improve its billing regime.  The Board would insist on appropriate performance.  And, if that necessitated a change in the revenue, so be it.  It would either occur in that case, or the utility would come crying back saying, If you're going to make us do that, we need more money.
     In my submission, it only makes sense to consider the implications for revenue along side with the wisdom of the additional expenditure.
     So what we're seeking here is the right to investigate the adequacy of the -- of Toronto Hydro's discharge of its obligations in regard to CDM and to suggest change to the extent we believe it is appropriate at this time.
     Now, issue 6 was a bit of an exception to what I had earlier remarked.  That is, we weren't trying to, in any way, investigate and seek change to the base third-tranche-funded program.  The situation that concerns GEC is one that has become obvious to us in the course of the recent Enbridge case.  Enbridge is involved in a joint delivery of a couple of programs with NRCan and others, where the facts briefly -- they're not in dispute, NRCan is throwing about a thousand dollars at each participant in the home audit program.  And in that case, Enbridge is throwing in 50 and saying, We're going to take credit for all the TRC and seek reward in their SSM.  In fact, they're citing the Board's guidelines for that approach.
     We're aware that Toronto Hydro supports EnerGuide home audits in its franchise area.  We're not sure what, if any, spending is being made in that regard.  We're just concerned that right now that and perhaps other programs and efforts by Toronto Hydro are being made with some reliance on the guidelines, and that that spending could be completely wasteful.  That it is in effect being inspired by a set of rules that hold out reward for the utility, and that the utility is or could be - we're not sure that is the case here - could be throwing money wastefully, with no effect, at a problem solely to be able to obtain reward for the utility, and that there would be much more effective ways to spend that money or spend more perhaps in that program area.


I want to be very clear here.  I'm not suggesting that Toronto Hydro is necessarily doing anything wrong.  This is somewhat speculative, because we don't have a pre-filing on their CDM program in this case.  We seek discovery, through the interrogatory process, to understand if there is a process.


So this is really here as a -- in anticipation that there could be a problem.  We suspect there may be a problem, and we think it is most important the Board address this up front.  It may be that this generic process will now, given the time frame of it, be up front enough soon enough.


So I'm a bit uncertain whether this needs to be proceeded with at this time.  I think we do need to know the factual underpinning as to see whether there is a real practical problem that's occurring in Toronto Hydro's case.  So we would certainly like to take it that far, that we be at liberty in the interrogatory process to understand that, in the case of Toronto Hydro, right now a problem.  


The broader question of whether the rules, the TRC guideline rules, should be changed, we're not seeking of this Panel to determine that in this case.  We're happy that there is another process for that purpose, but we seek to understand that whether we have a factual problem with the particular way that the Toronto Hydro is implementing its DSM at this time.


MR. KAISER:  I want to deal with that question, because we're dealing here with issues which, in the ordinary course, would be part of this case and that would be part of the Ottawa case, and a decision has been made to defer those to a generic hearing.  But as you have just stated, when we come to that generic hearing, we want to make sure we're going to have the evidence before us to decide this issue fairly in the interests of all parties.


Toronto and Ottawa have taken a position that they're not going to spend any more than third tranche, so it seems to me ‑‑ and I am anticipating the next case.  I'm just trying to explore together, since you all happen to be here today, to make sure we're going to have evidence in that case that can deal with this issue in a reasonable manner, one of which would be their reason for that position.


So I'm looking at you, Mr. Rodger and Mr. Schafler, and this is somewhat unorthodox, since you haven't even seen the procedural order setting out that, but as my turn my mind to it, I don't know that we have given any assistance to any of the parties, whether it is the applicants in these two cases or the intervenors in these two cases, as to what the evidentiary basis would be.  


But we will need to -- I think we will need to turn our minds to that pretty quickly, because as I listen to your arguments here, it's fine for us to push this off to the next day, but we better be ‑‑ because in the ordinary course, in this case, were this a contested issue, we would have evidence from Toronto Hydro, presumably.  At least you would have an opportunity to question their witnesses as to why they're not spending more than third tranche.


I presume that would have happened in the ordinary course and would have proceeded in this case.


So I'm not ruling on this.  I just want you all to pay attention to that.  I'm trying to do it in the fairness of all parties to make sure by creating this additional process, we haven't left an evidentiary gap.  I just raise it for the consideration all of us, because I see where you're going on this and I, frankly, hadn't thought of it until this very moment.  


We can't really address it until the procedural order goes out, and it may be that we will need to convene some kind of pre-hearing conference prior to that proceeding just to get some understanding as to or agreement between the parties, hopefully, as to who will call what evidence, so that we can deal with that matter and this issue, because one of the things that's going to come up is - and I think you're making this argument, and no doubt you will be making this argument three days before Christmas - we cannot deal with this issue in an evidentiary vacuum as some general principle.  We have to look at the facts as they relate to individual utilities, which you've already said, and at least in these two cases we have issues that are on the table that are being booted over, if I can, to that proceeding.


So I just want, Mr. Schafler, you to think about that and Mr. Rodger, and of course the interested intervenors.  And if it turns out that since you're all in such a cooperative spirit this morning, that we need to convene for a view to understanding and reaching agreement as to what evidence would be heard on December 22nd, then we can do that.  


What I don't want to do is come down to December 22nd and find out that the whole thing falls apart because there is not the necessary evidence that we need to ‑‑ we need to reach agreement on that prior to that.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I should say that with respect to what we have styled the Pollution Probe motion question - that is, the suitability of the attribution and free rider ‑-


MR. KAISER:  I'm not dealing with that issue, at all.


MR. POCH:  I think that can be dealt with and we can put forward evidence by way of example.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  I don't think that is a difficulty.  The question of -- the very narrow question of whether, as a matter of law, the Board can entertain intervenors in the situation that I am in today, seeking to have the Board impose on the utility further CDM requirements that would involve additional revenue requirement, I suppose that could be dealt with without any evidence.


But the wisdom of doing so is the very issue that I think requires evidence, and that is by its nature utility‑specific in the main.  We're not proposing to intervene in 85 cases to pursue it.  I think we made it clear at the time of the -- when we were before the Board on the handbook and the conservation issues there.  We thought that the way this can, as a practical matter, proceed is there are some lead utilities who will de facto pick up most of the load in the province, anyway, and who will set examples, and that the other utilities will end up taking their lead from them, in any event.  That's as a practical matter; that's how we propose that the problem facing the Board of regulating so many utilities be dealt with, and here we are.


MR. KAISER:  I think that is the basic rationale for the generic process, because we see this particular issue.  We now know it is in both the Ottawa and Toronto cases, and it may be in others, to try to deal with that in one spot for the benefit of all cases.  But that leaves aside, of course, the larger issue as to what evidence would be filed.  


Then I'm just concerned that that procedural order is silent on that.  I want you all to pay attention to it and see if it needs to get clarified.  Maybe I am wrong.  I don't want to come to the 22nd, and then find out we can't deal with this on a basis that is fair to all parties.


MR. POCH:  The other problem, Mr. Chairman, just before my friend speaks --


MR. KAISER:  Go ahead.  You have a point?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  If it would be helpful, Mr. Chairman, just to give you a snapshot of where Toronto Hydro is with all of this, that may help you in that procedural order.


Toronto Hydro received its unconditional approval from the Board to proceed.  Over the three years, Toronto Hydro's CDM component was approximately $40 million, and that represents roughly 43 percent of the total CDM in the entire province.  And it is a continuous, full-time job to try and stay on top of this and to be a leader in this regard.  


So looking at evidence for the hearing you spoke about earlier today, starting the 22nd, at this time Toronto Hydro isn't anticipating producing any evidence, because we're ‑‑ our focus is on implementing what we already have approvals for.  We're really looking at 2007 to be the first time of wanting to pursue any incremental spending.


So I just offer those comments as just kind of a snapshot of the challenges that the corporation ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  I understand your position, and I was making these comments to offer you as much assistance as the intervenors.  Let me put it this way -- and this is strange talking about a proceeding that hasn't even started, but that's the world we're in.


If your position is, We can't do more than we're doing now, for the reasons you have just expressed, I question whether it wouldn't be helpful to the Board to have evidence from the people running that program who would describe what they're doing and say, Well, you know, you can mandate us to do this, that or the other thing, but here are the limits of our capabilities.  Because on the other side, you're going to have the intervenor groups quite properly saying, You know, the province is falling apart.  We need this.  We need that.  


So I just want to make sure we've got the evidentiary basis to make this decision.  It is fine for you to take this position, and Mr. Poch will take that position.  But at some point the Board is going to have to make a decision hopefully on some evidence.


MR. RODGER:  That's helpful.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I'm struggling to be helpful to the Board here.  We have a bit of a catch 22 problem of, that we're going to, you know, that the generic process risks being too late to inform this too late -– arguably to inform this process and --
     MR. KAISER:  I don't think that is the case.  We're going to have this on the 22nd.  This case is not going to get heard until when, the 9th or something?
     MR. POCH:  That being the case, it seems a practical remedy, if this issue is allowed to persist -- to be put on the issues list with the understanding that the determinations made in the December 22nd process, will 

-- may require a revisitation as to whether there is anything left to be decided in this case.  Then we can get on with our interrogatories.  We can get on with our evidence.  That evidence would be available to the generic process, by way of example, and it would be available should the generic process deal with a slice of it and leave the question of how much, how fast, to this process to be heard in January.
     So it seems to me that as long as now that we all have notice that we may prepare evidence and get -- potentially I could be blown away on December 22nd when the Board says we're not going to change -- you know, if the Board were to decide it wasn't going to change the rule or consider deviation from the rule in the attribution question, and if it decided that it didn't wish to entertain requests from third parties in any circumstance, then that would be -- I would be a fool not to withdraw in this case at that point.
     But our evidence, the point being simply that our evidence, by this matter being alive in this area, we have a mechanism by which to start putting that evidence together.  We're, as it is, we're under severe time crunch.  I can't imagine that the generic process with procedural order if it comes out today, by the time we get to an order that sets up an interrogatory process, we resubmit, and so on.
     MR. KAISER:  Are you talking about for the purposes of the generic hearing?
     MR. POCH:  For the purpose of the generic process, we’d be in trouble.  I’m not sure you can fit in much of a generic interrogatory routine in that time.

MR. KAISER:  I don't think we're contemplating that.  I think, again, it would be helpful if we had the procedural order out but we have to deal with it today because you people need notice and that's why I'm raising this.
     MR. POCH:  Certainly.
     MR. KAISER:  This is a narrow issue that we're going to be deciding.  We know what the issue is.  And because we don't have time, quite properly, for interrogatories, then it seems to me that we ought to give some consideration as to some kind of pre-hearing conference as to what evidence the parties will be bringing so that you will at least have an equal opportunity.  We don't have any time for interrogatories.  We don't want to see in that generic thing a whole round of interrogatories to Toronto and Ottawa about their process and so on and so forth.  

We know what the issue is.  Presumably it is:  All right.  What's happened to date?  And I'm really putting it to the applicants, although you're not the applicant in that proceeding.  It's really a motion proceeding on the Board's own motion.  What's the evidentiary basis for your position?
     And they can examine those witnesses, as can Board counsel.  And they can call whatever evidence they say they have to suggest that is not a reasonable position.  But we have to narrow it down by some kind of expedited process so that you know how to go forward.
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, in that scenario then, I would suggest having matters on this issue and the Ottawa case, we would have discovery.  We will have some evidence, which evidence could inform the motion on the 22nd without having to duplicate that effort in that process, without having to accommodate the -- in that process.
     My friends would be at liberty, and presumably there would be wisdom in them considering to responding to that motion with either affidavit or viva voce evidence, pre-filed and viva voce evidence of supporting their position, whenever it may be.  We would do the same.  Presumably, I would have -- the evidence filed in this case I would wish to refer to in that motion.
     MR. KAISER:  Well, I'm just raising it.  As opposed to Mr. Rodger's position which I thought I took to hear that in this case he wasn't intending to call any evidence.  He was simply going to say:  That's our position.  I think all I was saying given that we have decided to hold that generic process on that issue, for all of the cases and we have two of applicants here, let's think about that.  Let's think about whether it wouldn't be helpful to all parties to have evidence in that proceeding as opposed to guessing whether their rationale is correct or not.
     Anyway, I have wasted too much of your time on this.  I just want to make sure that because of this convoluted process, that everyone has full notice and, as I say, if it turns out on looking at that procedural order, which hopefully will go out today, you feel there is a need for all parties to meet and deal with procedural issues further, we can arrange that, because we are on a tight time constraint.
     I think, in terms of this issue here, with the exception of the line-loss issue, which to my knowledge is not contemplated at all in the December 22nd proceeding, Mr. Poch's motion issue, the TRC issue will be dealt with there.  We know what that is.  I don't know that there is a lot of evidence that will be necessary, but he can determine that.  Then this question of whether you still should be required to go beyond third-tranche spending, that will also be an issue.  So those issues come off the list for the purpose of this case at this time.  They may come back.  But that would be the procedure that the Board's proposing.
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I would suggest the Board consider the panel consider one slight change in that.  The practical difficulty is assuming we're successful in persuading the Board on the 22nd, that the Board should be prepared at least in some circumstances to consider requests by third parties for further CDM so that that issue becomes live again in this process or is allowed to proceed in this process.  We'll have a problem of not having -- if the issue isn't on the issues list now, we won't have had the opportunity to get interrogatories and to file evidence.
     So what I would ---
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  That's a fair comment.  We obviously don't want to prejudice in that sense.
     MR. POCH:  I was just going to suggest, Mr. Chairman, we put these on as, if you would, conditional issues, that is that the issue of the appropriateness of further CDM in the case of Toronto Hydro and presumably what you decide here will influence what happens next week with Ottawa, be on the list.
     MR. KAISER:  Haven't you put your interrogatories in already?
     MR. POCH:  Yes.  But my friend, of course, if these matters are struck off the list, my friend has every right to say, Well, we're not going to spend our time answering your interrogatories.  I, of course, will be in a difficult position.  I can't afford to risk my client's funds having an expert prepare a report when it may not become a live issue again and then we would lose those –- the cost exposure would be unacceptable.
     MR. KAISER:  I think the short answer to that question is that these issues are not being struck off the list.  They're being deferred to another proceeding.  And given that, the interrogatory and the response to the interrogatories should continue as currently contemplated.
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, in that case, we would also appreciate if the Board could guide us that it be appropriate for us to go ahead and prepare evidence such that it will be available on a timely basis if and when needed.
     MR. KAISER:  Is this really a cost argument?
     MR. POCH:  Well, it is both.  We have no choice.  If we want to bring evidence --
     MR. KAISER:  I'm not --
     MR. POCH: -- we would need to do it.
     MR. KAISER:  I'm not trying to be cute.
     MR. POCH:  I understand.  The concern is both practical, that we need to go ahead and we can't afford to take that risk without some understanding that we are going ahead and that is not considered a wasteful -- that is considered a practical approach, in the circumstances.  With full understanding, Mr. Chairman, that if we lose on the 22nd, then the matter is moot here.  But we won't have been seen as being wasteful.
     MR. KAISER:  No.  I hadn't anticipated that nor, I'm sure, had Board Staff.  But I think that is -- I'm not sure Mr. Rodger would agree with that.  We need to keep the ship moving, notwithstanding the fact that we're deferring part of this process.
     What happens to the utility if the interrogatory responses or any evidence he has prepared or any evidence you prepared may change depending on that decision at that time, but I think we would regard it as prudent expenses because you have to be prepared to proceed on January 9th - if that's the date, I can't remember - in the event that these issues are proper issues for this case.  

Is that agreeable to you, Mr. Rodger?
     I think the practical question he is putting to you is:  You need to answer his interrogatories on these questions, even though we are deferring some of these issues to the 22nd.

MR. RODGER:  I guess, sir, the challenge for Toronto Hydro is that we really did see these as contested issues.  I think we have gone over the rationale.  We were going to hand out the Hydro One procedural order and the other decisions, and our view is that, as you said in Hydro One, these aren't narrow issues that are utility specific, but span the whole spectrum of the distribution sector in this province.  So it’s a bit of a chicken and egg.  


I think our view would be that the generic hearing will decide whether we should respond to the several interrogatories we have on CDM, but to do so before a decision of the generic hearing, I think we're concerned that that just takes the focus away from things like the ADR starting on the 28th, because for a couple of intervenors -- I haven't gone through all of the interrogatories that came in yesterday and last night, but there are certainly a couple of parties that that is ‑‑ their interrogatories are solely on CDM.


So I don't think the ADR ‑‑ it won't be an insignificant part of the ADR.  That is my expectation, if this is a live issue.  Our hope was that, yes, these things would just be cut right out of this proceeding.  Let's deal with them on the generic hearing, and that would be our position for today.


MR. KAISER:  Well, then of course the problem is we could say, All right, we'll boot it over to the generic hearing, and then Mr. Poch, as he has already alluded to, says, Well, I want interrogatories, then, for the generic hearing.  Well, he's just going to dust off the interrogatories from this hearing.


So, you know, we're just being cute, aren't we?  We know that we're deferring this.  The evidentiary basis could have been dealt with here, but it is going to be dealt with in a generic hearing because we agree it is broader than a single utility case and the results should apply to all utilities, hopefully.  


But at the same time, you've heard the argument that Mr. Poch's client is making.  He thinks that we need to make these decisions within the context of individual utilities.  And, of course, there may be reasons why individual utilities would have that might be unique to you, or Hamilton or Ottawa, as to why they can't spend past certain levels.  


So you can't take that argument away, just in a vacuum, from your client.  You may turn out at the end of the day pleading a special case.  You may end up pleading, as you started to plead here, Listen, we're spending 43 percent of the whole money in the province.  Who do you think we are here?  There's a limit to what we can do.  


You may have those same arguments yourself.  So I think, in fairness, I know it is additional work, but I don't think we should stall any of the evidentiary basis in this case, any of the response to the interrogatories.  They need to proceed according to plan.  They will be available to inform this case, if need be.  They will be available to inform the December 22nd case, if need be.  


There is no need to stall that process.  That would be ‑- that would just create future problems for us, depending upon the decision of that panel on December 22nd.


Mr. Schafler, do you have any issues with any of this?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SCHAFLER:

MR. SCHAFLER:  I'm sure that I do, actually, because the last thing I was told late last night is that when people are locked up in some war room in Ottawa dealing with all of the evidentiary issues, they have to answer their interrogatories ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  When are your answers due?


MR. SCHAFLER:  They're due, I think, on the 23rd.  We've put off our Issues Day to next Friday.  The hearing is on December 8th.  One of the things that occurs to me -- I don't know if this is the appropriate time to raise it, but it seems to me that the cart is being put before the horse here.


I heard my friend Mr. Poch say that we need to find out whether Toronto Hydro and presumably others, like Hydro Ottawa, are living up to their obligations.


I don't think that we know what those obligations are yet, and I read through the rate handbook and the report of the Board of May 11th, and what I heard, what I saw echoed in those reports and also in the Hydro One order of October 18th, was that we really don't know yet what the shape of the additional spending should be, if there should be any additional spending.


I thought that what you were saying earlier was that was going to be the purpose of the December 22nd hearing.  Let's get the players together and let's find out if there should be some magic formula, some of the matters that were already canvassed in the May 11th report.  


So I think in fairness to the utilities or the distributors, it's premature to talk about obligations beyond the third tranche when we don't know what those are.  And it puts them in a difficult position, having to deal with a rates case and the CDM issue, when at the same time there is now a new hearing three or four weeks down the road.  


So I think my client would much prefer to agree with the Board and defer the issue of CDM, but also defer the interrogatory process until we really know what is going on, after December 22nd.


MR. KAISER:  But isn't the question whether we'll be able to have a meaningful evidentiary basis on December 22nd to deal with this issue without evidence, including the responses to these interrogatories?  That's the issue, isn't it?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if I may interject quickly, as well.  I guess there could be a problem if we go down this route of an imbalance of the evidence, because if we follow this route, I guess we would have IR responses from Toronto Hydro and potentially Hydro Ottawa, as well.


However, for example, on the Hydro One proceeding we have already decided not to deal with those issues as part of their proceeding.  So we would have, in some sense, an imbalance of some responses from perhaps two utilities, but 93 others we might have nothing.


So that's just something I would like to put forward for the Board's consideration.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair, I have a number of submissions, and I am increasingly concerned by some of the thoughts, and so I just don't want to be forgotten.


MR. KAISER:  No, you go ahead.  Is this a convenient time to let Mr. Klippenstein talk?


MR. MACINTOSH:  Fine, sir.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I think my concern, on behalf of Pollution Probe, arises partly because the way the question is being framed and repeatedly referred to is one of spending money, money above the third-tranche amounts.  Pollution Probe understands we're talking about amounts beyond the third tranche.


But I respectfully suggest that at one level it's a little bit superficial, because given the assumption that seems to be throughout that these amounts will be spent on conservation that is cost effective and only on those types of conservation efforts, they will actually produce savings; that the real question is not how much money is going to be spent, but the question is:  How much is the peak demand in Ontario going to be reduced?  The question is:  How much is security of supply going to be increased?  And the question is:  How much are customers' bills going to be reduced?  


That's what we're talking about, because the money that we're talking about spending, by definition, has those effects.  So I respectfully suggest it is perhaps not really grasping the seriousness and the import of the issue to say it's about spending money.  It's about security of supply.  It's about reducing peak demand.


My friend talked about a chicken-and-egg situation, and, Mr. Chair, you talked about intervenors saying the end of the world is near, or something.  I believe there is a movie just coming out about Chicken Little or something, so let me say the sky is falling, except it is not me and Pollution Probe saying that.  It is the customer out on the street, and it is the independent electricity systems operator.  


What I intended to do, if I may do so, Mr. Chair, is just quickly refer to some excerpts from the -- one of the latest reports of the IESO, which I submit is very relevant to this, and I have some compiled documents on that, which I believe were distributed to the Board and which I have copies of for Board Staff and other parties -- at least for other parties.  I believe Board Staff has it.  I wonder if my friend could pass it on.


Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, if you could, that excerpt, which I will ask in a while to be made an exhibit, has a handwritten page 3, an excerpt from a report of the electricity system operator entitled "18‑Month Outlook:  An assessment of the reliability of the Ontario electricity system", and that handwritten page 4 of the excerpt is the executive summary.


At the left margin on the second paragraph, we've identified some points, and with the indulgence of the Board I would like to just read some of these.


The IESO says, quote:

"The peak Ontario demand of 25,414 megawatts set

in August 2002 was exceeded on seven separate occasions this past summer, resulting in a new Ontario peak demand record of 26,160 megawatts on July 13, 2005.”

Dropping down to the third paragraph: 

"As a result of the strain on the system, the IESO was required to repeatedly activate emergency control actions.  These included issuing public appeals for customers to reduce their use of electricity on 12 days, and implementing sustained 5 percent voltage reductions on August 3, and August 4, in order to reduce demand and maintain power supplies to Ontario consumers."

     Continuing: 

"In order to avoid persistent use of emergency control actions for future conditions, similar to the summer of 2005, the IESO is pursuing a number of initiatives targeted to be in place before the summer of 2006.”

     So with respect, Pollution Probe can be accused and sometimes is by people of being Chicken Little and saying the sky is falling, and one in a while we're proven right.  But this is not Chicken Little saying this.  This is the IESO.
     MR. KAISER:  The big chicken.
     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The big chicken.  And to have them use words like emergency and repeatedly activate emergencies, now I don't think there is too many people out on the streets of Toronto who have read this report, but I don't think reading what I just read would give them a whole lot of comfort.  The opposite is true.
     The connection to what I -- what Pollution Probe is saying is that the measures we're talking about in this case on the contested issues list are, by definition, issues that will reduce peak demand and will thereby increase security of supply.
     When the IESO talks about the time horizon being the summer of 2006, I respectfully suggest this is relevant to today.
     I don't mean to go on too much, but on the next page, the IESO in the middle of the page notes that:

“The government has set aggressive targets for energy conservation to reduce peak electricity consumption by 5 percent by 2007.  However, because the impact of new conservation initiatives is as yet difficult to forecast, the effects of these new conservation efforts are not reflected in the Ontario demand forecast used in this outlook.  These conservation efforts can make a significant difference."     

So in my respectful submission, that is an important factor to consider here.
     Furthermore, turning to the next page, page 6, and this brings it to the level of this particular issue with respect to -- this particular hearing with respect to Toronto Hydro, the heading 7.4 relates to downtown Toronto, although I see there is a typo there and it is called “DOW town” Toronto.  I have heard of Toronto being called hog  town, but this is a financial district, maybe it is DOW town.  

At any rate, the first paragraph says, just before the bullet points:  “The supply to downtown Toronto will be exposed to the potential overload of …” then a number of the system points are mentioned.
     So these are specific concerns about the security of supply in downtown Toronto.  Then the next paragraph goes on to say:   

"These combined issues will be addressed in the short term through load transfers using the John to Esplanade link and by additional generation supplemented with conservation and demand management."

Now, in my respectful submission this is a useful bit of highly qualified or highly –- of very credible information about the potential role of conservation and demand management for downtown Toronto and by implication, for the summer of 2006.
     So there is an element of -– I don’t like to use the word urgency, but immediacy and seriousness here that should affect us in this rather abstract room here.  
     It is also connected to a point, Mr. Chair, you raised earlier this morning, and Mr. Millar as well.  You reminded us all that the Board has an independent obligation to the public interest, which is, arises from its statute, and that the parties in this room cannot, by agreement somehow close-off that independent obligation on the part of the Board.
     So when the issue is framed as:  Do the parties have a right to compel Toronto Hydro to spend more money, that is part of the question.  But in my submission, there is the other part of the question which is:  Does the Board have an obligation, in a hearing such as this, to pursue and consider whether there is more conservation to be had, or to put it another way:  Whether, in fact, based on the evidence, Toronto Hydro could reduce peak demand more or could make supply more secure, or couldn't reduce customer's bills.
     So that goes, in my submission, a little bit farther than just whether Pollution Probe can say "spend more money."  It is a little more important than that, in my respectful submission.
     MR. KAISER:  I want to make it clear, Mr. Klippenstein, that I don't think the Board disputes that for a moment -- I mean any more the IESO does.  We all know what happened this past summer.  We also know that in the long term, you can bill a generation, but we need to do something in the short term.  Lord Kane said:  In the long term, we could all be dead.  

The question is, as the IESO properly points out:  What are we going to do before next summer?  Of course that raises conservation to the fore.
     I think this is more, even though sometimes lawyers get too immersed than they should, this is more of a procedural matter.  I think what the Board was saying in Hydro One was -- not that this isn't unimportant vis-à-vis Hydro One.  It is important in a larger context.  Sometimes when you have important decisions like this, it is not best decided on a case-by-case basis 15 different times.  There is some advantage in having some uniform policy.  But there's some advantage in getting all of the evidence because there may be situations where different utilities differ.
     There may be a case -- I say may, I don't know -- where the general rules wouldn't apply.  So the Board in its wisdom said, Let's carve this issue out.  We’re not saying it’s not a relevant issue.  Let's take it out of the individual cases and put it in a generic case.  It needs to be dealt with.  It needs to be dealt with properly.  
     The Board felt it could be dealt with more properly in a generic case than in individual cases.
     Now, of a procedural aspect, we don't want to dampen the evidence-gathering process by doing that.  Now, it may be that I wasn't aware of this; they stopped the interrogatories in Hydro One.  But we're in a bit of a different position with this panel.  The Hydro One panel didn't know when that next case was going to come along or what it was going to cover.  We do happen to know.  I'm just trying to fit the puzzle together so that all of the parties know what the plan is here.
     We know there is going to be a generic hearing; we even know when it is.  We happen to know, although the order hasn’t been issued, what it is going to cover.  All I was saying is, I think this, with respect to the very narrow issue which was being raised by Mr. Poch and Mr. Rodger, what about the interrogatories in this case on DSM, do we have to answer them or not?
     I'm suggesting, answer them, because even though we may not be dealing with them today in this case -- we may ultimately be dealing with them in the this case by the way, we're just not making that decision.  We're postponing the decision as to whether this is an issue in this case to a future case.  But that evidence will be relevant, I suggest, to both proceedings, not only this proceeding but that other proceeding.
     So in that circumstance, where we stand today and what we know today, it makes sense to continue on with the interrogatory process.  That's the only suggestion I was making.
     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  If I may add to that.  I didn't mean to suggest the Board wasn't aware of the points I was making because as I say, the Board, itself, raised them this morning.  I think the evidence-gathering process, as discussed, is very apt.  This wasn't raised but it may be relevant to the ADR process that is now scheduled for November.
     MR. KAISER:  Absolutely it may.  We have all agreed and swore on a stack of bibles this morning that we're going to pursue that process to the best we can.  So the more informative that process -- you will recall the Board's concern, that we're not going to rubber stamp some agreement in this case.  So we're going to want to make sure there is a full evidentiary record to support any agreement you people come to on these issues, including, it may be, this issue.  Because one of the things that we do need to discuss, which I haven't turned my mind to, but we should now just in case it crops up in your mind later, by deferring this issue to the December 22nd proceeding, I'm not suggesting you shouldn't consider it an issue for the purpose of ADR.  I hope that is understood.  Is that understood, Mr. Rodger?  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, with respect, I'm not sure that's the best result, and the reason is this.  While I agree that the IRs should be answered and evidence should be filed on this issue because it is just a practical result, the ADR ‑‑ the time spent in ADR can more effectively be spent on other things that are clearly going to be issues in this proceeding.


For example, if we resolve the issue of additional CDM spending and attribution and free ridership for Toronto Hydro in an ADR, we would, in effect, have presented the Board with a fait accompli on December 22nd with respect to issues that haven't been decided by the Board yet.  I don't think that is in the interests of the process.


Therefore, I would suggest that if these things are put on the issues list now, which we believe they should be, that they should be put on the issues list with the clear understanding they are not part of the ADR. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, we need to address this question.  I am glad you raised that.  I'm glad I raised it, because I had a sense, Mr. Poch, your expectation was that the ADR would cover this area.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  If I may address that for a moment, Mr. Chair, I think the logic that was discussed earlier this morning would apply to that issue, as well, which is if an agreement on this issue is reached, there is nothing stopping the Board from rejecting that later on as a result of the December process.


In other words, if the Board says, Now in the generic process we have concluded that this is not appropriate, then the ADR can be rejected and should be rejected and it is not a big deal.  That is a safeguard or normal part of the process and shouldn't, in my respectful submission, stop the practical ADR process from proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  Let's just deal with the narrow issue number 2.  Having regard to the fact that there is going to be a generic hearing on this business of spending above third tranche, should that issue be part of the ADR process in the Toronto and Ottawa cases, or not?


You say it should be?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  You agree, Mr. Poch?


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:

MR. POCH:  I think it should be.  I think we should anticipate the likelihood that we may only be able to go so far in a first cut at it in the ADR process prior to the 22nd, and it may be necessary for us to reconvene for a day after the Board has spoken on the 22nd, because I can imagine my friend being reluctant to give away the farm in early December, and not be ‑‑ you know, as a practical matter, be in a -- compromise his position on the 22nd.


Just anticipating that possibility, which it's only a possibility, as long as it's possible for us to consider reconvening the ADR for a day subsequently to wrap on CDM, if possible, then I think that would be productive.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Yes, sir.  We would want these CDM issues not to be part of the ADR.  That's what I'm struggling with, particularly with the submissions of my friend from Pollution Probe, is that at the end of the day, this is Toronto Hydro's application.  We have had decisions from the OEB which are also referenced in the materials, for example, page 19 of the Pollution Probe materials, which is an excerpt from the report of the Board on the 2006 EDR handbook.


If you go to handwritten page 19, which is page 105, last paragraph, it talks about the Board's decision.  The Board concludes:

"For Ontario distributors to continue with their existing commitments without a specific target in 2006 is not appropriate.  The distributor may apply for approval of additional spending above the third tranche as part of the 2006 distribution rate application, but this spending must meet the total resource cost test established in the Board's conservation manual."


So we read that, as well, when we put together our application, and we feel it would not be appropriate to enter into these other areas, in light of the generic proceeding.


We're also concerned about what -- the potential other avenues that this could take in ADR.  My friend from Pollution Probe referenced the IESO report and the supply issues, generally.


Well, there may be some intervenors that may want to use that to talk about supply, and, for example, say that if the province didn't make the decision to shut down certain generation facilities, then supply wouldn't have been so tight this summer.  I cite that as one example.  


So I think this whole issue of these types of scenarios could leave to perhaps different roads than we may think.  I'm not sure that is helpful specifically in the context of this application before you now.


So we would ask that we leave those CDM issues outside the ADR process until the Board makes the determination in the generic proceeding.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Schafler.


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SCHLAFLER:

MR. SCHAFLER:  Hydro Ottawa agrees with the submission of Toronto Hydro on this issue.  The two proceedings should, in our submission, be kept separate.  There is a well‑developed body of documentation issued by the Board, starting with the handbook in May and the May 11th report and the Hydro One order, that made it clear that the incremental expenditure issue with respect to CDM should, in fact, be carved out.


What you have now is a situation where some people are responding to interrogatories in different proceedings, when the evidence in the individual rates proceedings is not likely to be an issue.  It should be an issue in the generic hearing.


My friend, Mr. Rodger, just referred you to handwritten page 19 of the second exhibit today.  Over on the previous page, handwritten 18, under the heading "Conclusions", which are the conclusions of the Board, it reads:   

"Most parties submitted that there should be no mandatory minimum expenditure target.  The Board agrees that mandating spending is not appropriate as distributors have already made commitments for a three‑year period.  However, the question remains whether there should be a range of permissible spending above that commitment and whether that level should be defined."


And that, I would submit, sir, is the purpose or one of the purposes of the generic hearing that now is taking place on the 22nd of December.


The other thing I would draw to the Board's attention ‑‑ I don't know if everybody has this, but in the rates handbook itself, at paragraph 3.2.1 on page 14 of the handbook, it indicates, under CDM adjustments ‑ this is in respect of distribution expenses - that, "A distributor may apply", may, I emphasize the words "may apply": 

"... in the 2006 rate application for approval of spending incremental to the third tranche amounts."


Then, with respect to rate base, exactly the same language.  This is on page 15 of the handbook under the heading "CDM Adjustments": 

"Again, a distributor may apply for approval of spending incremental to the third tranche amounts in the 2006 rate application."


So the system that we've had, until today, has been one where the Board has given the choice to the utilities to make the issue of incremental spending an issue in their rates case, or not.


Toronto and Ottawa, it seems, have chosen not to make it an issue, and the only venue it seems where that can now be dealt with on an industry‑wide basis is on December 22nd.  And so the evidentiary record for the specific rates cases should, in my submission, not overlap with that of the December 22nd generic hearing.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I think it is an open question as to whether that statement means that DSM should be an issue.


I think the statement ‑‑ we're going to hear a lot more of this, I suppose, on the 22nd.  In part, this argument will no doubt consist of dissecting EDR 2000 handbook as to what was in the minds of the parties; what was in the mind of the Board, I guess.


Certainly one issue is clear, in that the Board ruled that they were not going to mandate some minimum level of spending.  But I don't think that is the issue that we're talking about now.


The question is more properly, in a rate case, whether the level of spending that is anticipated as being charged to rates is the appropriate level of spending.  But I don't want to get into that discussion, nor do we want to occupy time here.  We've set up a procedure to deal with that on a generic basis.  That's where it will get dealt with.


The question is this evidentiary one, when it comes down to answering of interrogatories. 

     I suppose to be consistent we could say that since we are deferring -- the issue before us today is whether this contested issue of DSM is an issue in the Toronto case.  We're saying we don't have to rule on that today.  We are deferring that question to a generic proceeding.  We’re not deciding that one way or another, whether it is an issue in this case.  Of course we would take the same position with respect to Ottawa.  So that's done.  That's the procedural end.  

Now the question is:  Do we suspend the interrogatory process on that issue even though we have decided we're going to defer answering that question in this case until the subsequent proceeding?  It's not that we're never going to answer that decision, it's not that we're deciding whether or not that is an issue in this case.  We're not.  We're simply deferring that issue.  Everyone understands that.  The question then is:  Does that then mean we should stop the discovery process with respect to it?
     I would have thought the practical result is no.  That evidence may or may not be useful, depending on the result on December 22nd.  But in the event that the result suggests that the evidence would be useful, we'll have wasted a lot of time.  The only downside or the inconvenience in such a thing is that there will be a little bit more work, but it would have been work that we would have done anyway if this had become an issue in this case, by simply deferring it.
     So I think the balance of convenience, if I can use that term, is to continue with the discovery process in the possibility, in the event of the possibility that this may become an issue in this case, a decision of which has not been made at this time by this Board today.  It is being deferred for the reasons expressed.  
     We just want to be practical in this process that we don't create a more convoluted -- and we don't add more delays than are necessary, because you all have some interest in getting these proceedings done in time for these rate orders to go out in May.
     So even though that may be different, Mr. Millar, from what they did in Hydro One, I think the distinction I would make is that in Hydro One, they didn't know what the landscape is.  We now know that there is a proceeding to deal with this, and -- we're going to come back after the lunch break and rule on these matters.  I'm just having a rambling discussion; God knows what this transcript will look like.  

But we need to deal with that issue.  We also need to deal with whether the subject of DSM is taken out of the ADR at this time.  It could come back in.  It may be in a slightly different position, I suggest, than the answering of the interrogatories because Mr. Rodger may say, Well, I don't want to prejudice my position.  I'm going to argue on December 22nd, this, that or the other thing.
     If I am ordered that this is relevant, or whatever, well then, of course, I will go back to the ADR, which is really what you had been suggesting anyway, Mr. Poch.  I think that is probably just the reality, because whether we left it in, or not isn't the practicality that these utilities are not likely to turn their mind to a settlement on DSM given that the Board has created this deferral procedure in a proceeding on the 22nd.  So let's just again be practical and deal with the reality that we wouldn't expect anyone to waste any time on ADR on this subject given the nature of the procedure that the Board has set up.
     That's the Board's fault, if you will.  Somebody has to ascribe a delay on that; it goes with the procedure.  I think we've set up to be fair to the utility; they've got a lot of things on their plate trying to get through this process.  They're not going to turn their mind -- they're not going to agree to anything.  I'm not saying that unkindly.  That's just their right to do in this process as the Board has set it up.  Until they get a clear direction from the Board on this issue, they're not going to turn their mind to it.  That's their right.
     MR. POCH:  I would invite the Board assuming you go that route in your decision today, then that you indicate that it would then -- whether it is possible to have a brief ADR on the conservation issue if it is warranted, post the December 22nd decision.  I wouldn't want that opportunity lost in this.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Do you have any submissions on that, Mr. Rodger?
     MR. RODGER:  We would support Mr. Poch, if that's the way events unfold.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Schafler.
     MR. SCHAFLER:  I would agree with that, Mr. Chair.  But I would also invite the Board to consider whether it might make sense to defer or delay the date by which the CDM interrogatories have to be delivered.  It's already a very tight ship.  And if there is a little extra breathing room if there is going to be an ADR in any event, it might make sense to push that off a few weeks, at least.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  The difficulty I face, Mr. Chairman, is we need that, the practical reality is we need that information to prepare both for the 22nd and we need that information before we can begin the commencement of our evidence.  So just the timeline is such -- we're going to, the reality is once Christmas sets in I'm not going to have access to an expert to prepare evidence at that late stage.  It really needs to be done before Christmas and that the additional benefit will be that evidence will be available to the extent it is relevant for the 22nd.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Gentlemen, any other issues that we need to decide today, other than those two?  Well, there is the larger issue as to what we're doing with this.  I think we said we're going to be deferring the decision on whether CDM is an issue in this case, pending the outcome of the December 22nd.
     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair, if I could, just as a housekeeping matter, have the exhibit given a number.
     MR. KAISER:  Yes, Mr. Millar.
     MR. MILLAR:  That will be Exhibit K1.2, Mr. Chair.
     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Which is, the Pollution Probe reference materials.
     MR. KAISER:  Yes.
     EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  Pollution Probe reference materials

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I do also note, Mr. Chair, that the contested issue number 7, line loss was a bit of a different nature.
     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  We will have to -- that will have to be part of our decision.
     Anyone want to say anything more about line losses?  We dropped that off the table.  I think I've explained to you that my understanding of this procedural order, 

vis-à-vis the 22nd, does not deal with line losses.
     MR. RODGER:  That's correct, sir.  We do have a submission on that if you want to wait until after lunch or…     

MR. KAISER:  Could we hear it now, then with some luck we could render a decision after lunch
     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Again, our view is this should not be an issue in this rate application because it is a matter that's already been decided by the OEB.
     For this, we would refer you to pages 112, 113 and 114 of the May 11th, 2005 report on the Board on the 2006 Rate Handbook.
     Just to summarize, on page 12 of the report, the OEB discussed the two options in the draft handbook with respect to distribution line losses as they relate to CDM.  Alternative 1 was the status quo where line losses are passed through and the distributors have no financial incentive to reduce line losses.  

Under alternative 2, any variance between a distributor's actual electricity purchases and sales is no longer a pass-through item.  As a consequence, if alternative 2 was adopted, the distributors will have a direct financial incentive to reduce line losses.
     Pollution Probe argued that the Board should adopt alternative 2.  But they also agreed that a distributor should be permitted to make rate-base capital expenditures to reduce line losses.
     Now, the OEB recognized that "Reducing line losses is an opportunity for conservation in the province," and that currently distributors have little incentive to reduce line losses.  But the Board concluded, and I am referring to pages 113 and 114 of your decision as follows:   

"It is not feasible to introduce a financial incentive in 2006 rate cases related to distribution line-loss reduction.  The RSVAs currently capture, in a combined fashion variances from a variety of sources including price differences, quantity differences, timing differences and billing errors.  The Board has concluded the distribution line-loss variances will be difficult to isolate and quantify with precision.  The Board has, therefore, concluded that 2006 will focus on identifying those distributors with high average losses and requiring them to report on those losses and provide an action plan as to how the distributor intends to reduce the level of losses.  Any distributor whose three-year average of distribution losses is higher than 5 percent will be required to make this report.  The Board intends to address the accounting issue discussed above with a view to implementing a financial incentive mechanism in due course.  The Board also intends to initiate a study in the near future that will examine losses in Ontario as well as approaches taken in other jurisdictions.  The intention will be to refine the Board's approach and the incentive structure in the future proceedings."


So our view, sir, is that this matter has been considered and addressed already for the purposes of 2006 distribution rate making and it would not be appropriate, in light of that board decision, to include it now as an issue in Toronto Hydro's case.


Those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Schafler, do you have a view on this?


MR. SCHAFLER:  Mr. Rodger has read the same passages I was going to read to you, Mr. Chair, and I adopt his submissions, with respect.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, I'm going to let Mr. Klippenstein speak to this issue.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair and Members of the Panel, two or three points, very quickly.


First of all, my friends have referred to the rate handbook, but this particular application by Toronto Hydro, for example, is not in accordance with the rate handbook.  It's by Toronto Hydro's choice taken out of that, and so it has limited precedential or guideline value.  Having decided not to follow the rate handbook for this application it is -- it has a lot less applicability, in my submission.


Secondly, on the issue of line losses, Hydro One Networks did in fact decide to proceed with a line loss regime that's not a pass‑through.  They said, We will do what we can to reduce line losses and we'll have a forecast, and we will either exceed or not meet that forecast, and we will either gain some extra profits, if you will, or not, depending on that.  So it is feasible.


Thirdly, this issue of line losses, a technical engineering issue which the companies have had experience with for a long, long time, unlike some of the more recent conservation programs, and so issues of phasing and so forth have been very, very well examined from an engineering point of view and they have a good idea of what may or may not be possible.


Fourthly, this, like the other issues, in my respectful submission, the ‑‑ whether it is government policy or the man or woman on the street, for the Board to say, Let's hurry up on this one, in my respectful submission, would be inappropriate -- an inappropriate approach, if I may be colloquial about it.  So those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I'll be brief.  The rate handbook, in our view, creates sort of a deemed cost of service that says, Use this stylized method of getting to a cost of service.  We know it is not the real cost of service, but it is closer than you've got now.


It also gives the option to applicants to say, No, we would like the real cost of service.  We would like to go on a forward test year basis.


It seems to us that if an applicant chooses the real cost of service, they can't pick and choose what parts of it they apply.  They must apply all the real costs of service, including, for example, the real line losses.  And how that is dealt with then should be a live issue in this hearing.  Those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Sort of like the gully.  Once you step out of the crease, you're a fair target.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rowan.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. ROWAN:

MR. ROWAN:  Mr. Chairman, CME strongly supports Toronto Hydro's position on the CDM and line losses.  It's the position not to include discussion in the ADR process.


We also believe that the interrogatories should not be part of this hearing.  We are sensitive to the need for evidentiary information, but we believe that that should be dealt with in the procedural order for the December 22nd hearing and not be part of this hearing.


Those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. Adams, do you have anything to add on this?


MR. ADAMS:  We support the submissions of Mr. Shepherd on this.  We have nothing in addition to add to his remarks.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  All right.


MR. RODGER:  Sir, if I could just reply briefly?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RODGER:

MR. RODGER:  Just to stay with the hockey analogy, I think we need a video replay for these proceedings, because unlike Mr. Belfour, we are still in the crease.


The forward test year didn't pull out of thin air.  That came from the handbook.  And you will recall the Board's words that the future test year is actually the preferred approach.


So we just have a fundamentally different view on the handbook.  My friends seem to be saying that it is completely irrelevant to choose a future test year, and we completely disagree.  So I just wanted to put that on the record, that we think that the handbook is entirely relevant as the minimum filing requirement, and the choice of a future test year was to provide better information to the Board on certain costs, but it is still a relevant document for this application.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, did you have anything to add?


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, just very briefly, I there is some issue here as to whether or not the rate handbook applies.  I don't propose we argue it fully today.  That could take days.


I would say that Mr. Rodger actually didn't quote the rate handbook.  He quoted the report of the Board, which supported the rate handbook.  Even if the Board were to determine that the rate handbook doesn't apply here, I think it still could consider the logic behind that report.  Specifically, it says that the Board intends to initiate a study in the near future that will examine losses in Ontario, as well as approaches taken in other jurisdictions.


That hasn't happened yet, so to the extent ‑‑ I don't want to use the term condition precedent, but these are the types of things the Board was contemplating in its report, and those haven't happened yet.  I would just like to raise that for the Board.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  I think we will come back in an hour.  We will take the luncheon break now and deal with the decision on these three or four matters. 


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:45 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:10 p.m.
     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.
     DECISION:
     MR. KAISER:  This proceeding today relates to the application filed on August 2nd by Toronto Hydro under Section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act for orders approving just and reasonable rates.
     As indicated earlier, the Board issued a Procedural Order in this matter, Procedural Order No. 1, on November 2nd directing that the Board would proceed by way of oral hearing, and set out various procedures for the issuing and answering of interrogatories as well as defining the issues.
     The particular purpose of today's hearing was to determine what matters should be issues in the proceeding, and to determine the process for the disposition of those.
     They fall in different categories, which I will deal with in a moment.  But just to complete the record, we should indicate that we began today by hearing a motion from Toronto Hydro, supported by the intervenors, that the issues on the proposed issue list all be subject to an ADR or alternative dispute resolution process.  The Board has earlier today issued its decision in that regard, agreeing to that process, subject to certain conditions, which are outlined there.
     So we turn, then, to the next matter, which is outlined in Exhibit K1.1, under heading (c), and those are described as issues currently on the draft generic hearing list.
     Now, by way of explanation, the Board issued another Procedural Order also on November 2nd identifying in Appendix 1 of that Order certain matters that it regarded as generic to all of the rate applications.
     The Board indicated that it would, by November 15th, after hearing submissions from the parties, determine which issues were, in fact, generic and established a proceeding and a hearing to deal with those generic issues to start on January 9th, 2006.
     As far as this case is concerned, with respect to the matters described under heading (c), those three issues, smart meter, stand-by charges and deferral accounts, all fall within that category and they will be dealt with in the Board's decision on November 15th.
     That, then, brings us to the contested issues.  Here there are essentially three, although they're described as four on the list.  The first is the level of DSM spending.  The second is the calculation of the total resource cost, or TRC net CDM benefits.  And the third is a matter of line losses.
     Dealing with the first two, I have indicated that the Board will be issuing a Procedural Order today that will deal with the first two.  This Order will, in effect, establish a generic hearing to deal with those two matters, and that that hearing will take place on December 22nd.
     That Procedural Order will also deal with an interrogatory process relating to those two issues, and will, in effect, provide that parties who wish to intervene can at the time of their intervention, file interrogatories directed to any LDC that they consider relevant to their position and they will obtain responses to those interrogatories within the same time frame as they would have received responses to interrogatories directed to Toronto Hydro in this proceeding. 
     I raise this in that there was a concern expressed in this case that we not suspend the discovery process.  However, as has been pointed out, in the Hydro One case the Board did in fact suspend the discovery process.
     This new procedure will allow the discovery process to continue without any impediment or disadvantage to the intervenors, not only with respect to Toronto Hydro, but also for Hydro One or any other utility.  So in effect, it picks up the discovery process.  There should be no disability encountered by any intervenor here that would cause them problems in preparing their evidence, which was a concern presented by Mr. Poch and others.
     Now, the other procedural aspect was whether, in light of the Procedural Order that's being issued today, we would suspend the ADR process at least with respect to DSM.  For the reasons expressed earlier, we believe that is appropriate.  The fact of the matter is that the applicants are not going to turn their mind to settling any DSM issues until they have a Board ruling in the December 22nd proceeding as to what is in scope and what is out of scope, and they're certainly entitled to take that position.
     So that deals with the matter of the DSM-contested issue.  It is being deferred and will be dealt with on a generic basis, as described, and that Order will issue today.  That proceeding will also deal with item number 2, which is this TRC issue and is really the substance of a Pollution Probe motion, but we don't have an interrogatory or discovery issue there.
     That, then, leaves the third item, which is the matter of line losses.  Here, the argument by the utility, in this case Toronto Hydro, is that they followed the EDR 2006 guidelines.  Therefore, they say line loss should not be an issue, because they're following the guideline, which provides for the simple pass-through of these expenses.  

Of course the issue here is that the intervenors claim, as they did before, that the simple pass-through of these costs creates no incentive to reduce these line losses, and this becomes a conservation issue because there is a needless wastage of electricity.
     In this regard, Mr. Klippenstein has referred the panel to the IESO Report, which is Exhibit K1.2.  Entitled “The Assessment of the Reliability of the Ontario Electricity System”.  And he has brought to the Board's attention some aspects of that Report, including the fact that during this past summer, the former peak that was experienced in this Province in 2002 of some 25,000 megawatts was exceeded on some seven different occasions.  He goes on to point out the IESO's concern with the electricity system and the importance of conservation.   And he quoted the IESO at page 4 of the report that “conservation efforts could make a significant difference”.
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, if we could have a minute.
     MR. KAISER:  Yes. 

MR. POCH:  We're fine, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  The intervenors have taken the position that this Applicant, Toronto Hydro, has, in effect, departed from the rate handbook.  They have not filed on a historical year basis and that once having done that, if I can put it colloquially, everything is up for grabs.  All of the issues are on the table.


Remember that the issue here is simply whether this is an issue in this proceeding.  It is not a question of deciding at this point which approach is right, whether the handbook approach is right or some other approach is right with respect to the treatment of these costs.  


The issue simply is:  Are the intervenors in this case entitled to question the level of those costs and the regulatory treatment of these expenses by this applicant?


The intervenors argue that once the applicant stepped outside of the rate handbook for certain aspects of the proceeding, they are entitled not to be bound by the treatment in the rate handbook with respect to other elements of the costs; and that these costs can be questioned and can be open to challenge.


This is a difficult issue, but the Board has some sympathy with the position of the intervenors, that once an applicant decides to depart from the rate handbook, it puts in play other issues and at least allows those intervenors to bring evidence and challenge the cost treatment with respect to those matters.  That is to say, as they put it, you can't pick and choose.


This is not to say that at the end of the day the treatment accorded this applicant would be anything different than is in the rate handbook.  That's not the issue that's being decided at this stage today.  The only issue that is being decided is:  Is this an issue?  Are intervenors in this proceeding, with respect to this applicant, entitled to question the prudency of the cost levels with respect to line losses?  


That's the only issue.  And with respect to that, the Board's ruling is that the answer to the question is yes, that will be an issue.  This is not one of the issues that's being deferred to December 22nd, so this will remain an issue in this case.


That completes the Board's ruling in this matter, subject to any questions of clarification any of you gentlemen may have.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, as a practical matter, how we would propose to proceed, in light of this ruling, is to -- we will confer with counsel for the applicant and convert the interrogatories we've asked to be interrogatories in the other process, upon receipt of the Board's order therein.


And we propose to carry on with the production of our evidence so that it will be available both for that proceeding and for this proceeding, if ultimately this proceeding deals with that issue.  And I take it from your earlier comments that the Board would agree that that is ‑‑ that that's not an imprudent thing for us to do.


MR. KAISER:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Anything else?


MR. RODGER:  No, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Your submissions were very helpful.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:20 p.m.
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